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Q&A concerning the Request for Tender 
 

Last Update: 18.11.2021 
 
This document lists questions concerning the Request for Tender and will be continuously updated 
until the 10th of December 2021. Relevant questions from the Open Market Consultation have also 
been included where appropriate. The questions have been answered to the best of our knowledge 
at this phase of the process. 
Questions raised during the OMC can be viewed here 
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1. Who can apply? 

Q: Can a group (e.g., a consortium) of Solution Providers respond to the request for tender? 
A: Yes; a joint response to the request for tender by large companies together with SMEs and 
academic institutions is encouraged. 
 
Q: Is SME participation encouraged? 
A: Yes. Discussions with the European Commission and the reviewers highlighted that SMEs should 
not be forced into partnership with large companies, which may cause IP problems. SMEs can apply, 
either alone or within a partnership. Please use the Partnering Platform on the website! 
 
Q: Can start-up companies participate in the PCP? 
A: Yes 
 
Q: Can Solution Providers from academia and industry respond to the request for tender? 
A: Yes. 
 
Q: Must Solution Providers be EU-based? 
A: No, but at least 50% of the total value of activities covered by each specific contract for PCP 
phase 1 and 2 and at least 50% of the total value of activities covered by the framework agreement 
(i.e. the total value of the activities covered by phase 1 + the total value of the activities covered by 
phase 2 + the total value of the activities covered by phase 3) must be performed in the EU Member 
States or H2020 associated countries. It is irrelevant where the headquarters are located (e.g. the 
activities may be performed by a subsidiary) but the principal R&D staff working on the PCP (i.e. 
main researchers, developers and testers) must be located in the EU Member States or H2020 
associated countries. 
 
Q: Could you please let us know if an US-based company is allowed to apply for your 
INSTAND-NGS tender? The US is listed as "Country with bilateral science and technology 
(S&T) agreements with the EU" on the EU website EU International Cooperation Is this 
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"enough" to attend? 
A: US-based companies are welcome to apply for the tender. However, funding is subject to a “place 
of performance obligation” whereby at least 50 % of the total value of activities covered by the 
framework agreement will be performed in the EU Member States or H2020 associated countries 
(see also previous question). 
Unfortunately the S&T agreement you referred to does not give you the status of an EU Member 
State or H2020 associated country. 
 
Q: What does it mean that „At least 50 % of the total value of activities covered by the 
framework agreement will be performed in the EU Member States or H2020 associated 
countries. The principal R&D staff working on the PCP will be located in the EU Member 
States or H2020 associated countries;“ for an US-based company? 
A: Participation of US companies is not excluded. However, at least 50% of the activities within a 
consortium must be performed in EU Member States or H2020 associated countries, and the 
principal R&D staff must be located in these countries. However, a US-based company does not 
have to have its own principal R&D staff working in Europe but may participate in a consortium with a 
European-based company, in order to fulfil the place of performance obligation. 
 
Q: Is the participation of UK-based entities affected by the withdrawal of the UK from the EU 
(Brexit)? 
A: No – under this H2020 PCP project, UK entities are considered to be one of the EU Member 
States, and can apply for the PCP procurement in any form they wish: main bidder, consortium 
member, subcontractor etc. R&D may be performed for the PCP in the UK. 
 
Q: Regarding the 50% of R&D to be done in EU member or Horizon 2020 member states - does 
UK apply? 
A: Yes, the UK is considered to be a Member State under H2020. 
 
Q: What is the status of Israel? 
A: Israel is an associated country under H2020, and is therefore eligible. Please see Associated 
Countries for the full list of associated countries (Switzerland is also included). 
 
Q: Are respondents to the request for tender expected to be R&D service providers or 
suppliers of NGS products? 
A: Both R&D service providers and suppliers of products are welcome to submit proposals. The aim 
of the funding instrument is, through public funding, to stimulate innovation and provide the incentive 
for companies to take innovative steps. The term “R&D” used in the documents does not exclude 
technology providers. 
 
 
 

2. Applying for more than one Lot or in a consortium? 

 
Q: One company per lot i.e. 8 at the end of the process? 
A: One Solution Provider (single entity or consortium) has to address at least 1 Lot, or up to 3 Lots 
(just not all 4 Lots). i.e. we expect to fund up to 3-4 suppliers/Lot in the 1st phase. 
 
Q: Is it advantageous if a single start-up company encompasses the entire NGS workflow? 
A: No! Choose which 3 Lots fit best, and where you have your strongest market position. No funding 
can be given for more than 3 Lots. However, potential solutions for all 4 Lots can be reported. 
 
Q: Are we excluded from all four Lots because we are too smart and already have a tentative 
solution for all lots being a small start-up SME? 
A: See above 
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Q: Regarding partnership, will it be better to answer jointly or separately? 
A: Whatever fits best to the product/solution. Applying for multiple Lots facilitates the integration into 
the complete workflow, so partnering to cover more Lots might be an advantage, particularly for 
Phase 3. 
 
Q: We need to understand how as a manufacturer we can postulate for this tender in 3 lots 
and how to partner with other potential providers? In case of partnerships do we need to 
participate via only 1 candidate submission or does each company need to candidate & 
operate separately? 
A: Partnering is not obligatory. If you decide to partner, there is only 1 Tender to be submitted per Lot 
by the leader of a Tenderer Consortium.  
 
Q: Is your definition of PROVIDER equal to a 'consortium' of solution-providing members? It 
is important to understand because it is the PROVIDER that is limited for participation to at 
most 3 lots. If a solution-providing participant is present (with different solutions) in more 
than one consortium (provider), then that solution-provider might be involved in more than 3 
lots.  
A: “PROVIDER” in this context refers to either a company (single entity) or consortium submitting a 
Tender. Participation either as a single entity or a consortium is limited to a maximum of 3 Lots. An 
individual company may be present in more than one consortium, and is not prohibited from 
participating in separate Tenders for additional Lots. However, the company may not be the leader of 
more than one consortium applying for 3 Lot(s). 
 
Q: Lot 1 is very complex with many pieces of the puzzle, some of which are very well 
established and used by all labs like for QC. Even if complete workflows should be offered, 
will the buyers be able to combine different part of the workflow? 
A: We expect different levels of innovation for different parts of the workflow. For some aspects, 
there are not many Solution Providers on the market. Therefore we foresee the possibility of one 
solution being used in both workflows. 
 
Q: Does a solution designer have to provide all parts of the workflow: from DNA/RNA 
isolation to sequencing ready library - for lot 1? Or can also parts be provided, like only the 
library preparation from already isolated DNA/RNA? 
A: A solution designer does not have to provide all parts of the workflow. For instance, if a smart 
solution for library preparation is proposed, it is not necessary to have innovative sample collection 
and stabilization devices as well if your solution works with technology that is already on the market. 
In this case a Tender for a Lot may include solutions already on the market to complement highly 
innovative solutions to address the challenges of a Lot. Please note that the total score of a Tender 
may be reduced if it does not cover the entire Lot. 
For example, an innovative library preparation solution can be proposed for Lot 1: in this case, we 
would provide isolated DNA/RNA instead of a tissue sample to demonstrate the performance of the 
library preparation solution. Details of what test material should be provided will be defined in the 
Framework Agreement and Specific Contract.  
 
Q: Does one Solution Provider have to address all Lots of a workflow? 
A: No; one Solution Provider can contribute to a maximum of 3 Lots of the complete workflow (e.g., 
Lots 1, 2 & 3 or Lots 2, 3 & 4 or only two Lots or a single Lot). 
 
Q: Can a company apply for the same lot with two different solutions? 
A: The same company cannot apply for the same Lot with two different solutions (see also next 
question). 
 
Q: Can a company apply for the same lot alone and in a consortium e.g. can we participate 
with solution X in lot A alone, and also with solution X in lot A in a consortium led by another 
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company? This could be of interest to provide an even more comprehensive solution (X + 
more) to lot A even in the case when solution X basically already fulfills the requirements in 
lot A.  
A: We are looking for innovation, not only the fulfilment of the minimal requirements. It won’t make 
sense to apply with the same solution as a company and as a consortium. However, it would be 
feasible in principle to apply as a company for lot A with solution X and as a consortium for lot A with 
a solution Y (a different one, potentially less mature, which needs a partner’s contribution)  
 
In summary, you can apply with one solution alone, and with another solution in a project consortium 
(in which case you cannot be the lead partner for the consortium). 
 
Q: Can I participate with a solution X in lot A and another solution Y in lot B? I did understand 
from Prof. Zatloukal's presentation that it can be beneficial to have solutions covering more 
than one lot. 
A: Yes, you can participate with solution X in Lot A and solution Y in Lot B. It will be welcome to have 
more than one Lot addressed, as this would facilitate the further integration into a complete workflow 
which is the goal at the end of the project (Phase 3). 
 
 
 

 

3. Technical and Regulatory questions 

Q: I get the impression that many of the 'parts' of the pipelines would not be approved for use 
in the EU currently. Is the idea that different partners would be able to coordinate and 
possibly work with the academic hospitals on their technical files, and that eventual IVDR 
compliance is an end goal? 
A: The Request for Tender addresses R&D Solution Providers, but the product should be for routine 
diagnostics i.e. an IVD (not a research technology). We want to help companies to make their 
products ready for compliance with IVDR, i.e. reduce the burden of producing technical 
documentation although the product is not final. Variants to be analysed therefore need a well 
established medical relevance. Outcome/benefit of the project: medical centres could help R&D 
Solution Providers with clinical performance studies. 
 
Q: Do we need to meet IVDR already today, or only by 2022? 
A: The future solutions should fulfil the IVDR, when entering into force since 2022. The IVDR 
principles should be taken into account in the ongoing process, meaning an adaptation period. 
 
Q: You put a lot of emphasis on the regulatory development. Regulatory uses limits R&D 
development: Can you explain a little bit about the expected impact or contribution of 
regulatory in the three phases? 
A: The aim is to facilitate the regulatory process of a solution. No information will be requested that 
would not be required in later stages of the regulatory pathway. 
 
Q: Have full data analysis pipelines (software) and scripts to be revealed to the buyers or 
what will actually be tested by the buyers specifically or would this more work like a "Ring 
trial" i.e. buyer provided input and provider provides the results for evaluation? 
A: Data analysis pipelines have to be made available to the Buyers for testing in accordance with the 
Framework Agreement, which does not require disclosure of proprietary information. There is 
flexibility in how Buyers can test a software or pipeline and the approach has to be described in detail 
in the proposal for phase 3. 
 
Q: Would design support in Europe also be considered as R&D? 
A: Yes. The provided funding is an R&D service. 
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Q: Are phases 1, 2 and 3 wet-lab solutions or on-paper solutions? 
A: Phase 1 is expected to be “on-paper”, while phases 2 and 3 are wet-lab solutions.  
 
Q: I would like to ask a question about the cancer referral pathways you might expect: are 
certain cancers expected to be prominent? What type of sampling would you expect? 
A: Coverage: Common cancers (childhood/adult), but there is also an emphasis on rare cancers, so 
broad coverage is an advantage. If a broad coverage solution is not provided, you should show how 
this can be widened in a future step. 
Samples: the Buyers group will provide different reference sample types (FFPE, frozen, liquid biopsy, 
buccal swabs/PBMCs for whole genome testing). Through Genomics England, samples relevant for 
pharmacogenomics testing will also be provided. 
 
Q: How would this programme work for a service provider as the techniques have been tested 
by the buyers locally? 
A: The solutions should be designed to be used widely in a hospital context, and to comply with 
regulatory requirements for an IVD, which are of course relevant also for a Service Provider. 
However, solutions for a diagnostic Service Provider most likely will not be able to demonstrate how 
well it is integrated in a hospital information system.In this case, the solution might generate reports 
that can be integrated in a hospital information system of a cancer centre that receives this report. 
Such a Service Provider solution therefore falls within the scope of Instand-NGS4P, and is not 
excluded from participation in the tendering process. 
 
Q: What about the application of RNASeq? 
A: RNAseq is included in the scope. This is of particular interest for analysis of gene fusions. 
 
Q: Do you have information on sample numbers and types?  Will this be service, product or 
both? 
A: In the Request for Tender there is a list of the tumour entities covered and the sample types and 
quality that will be produced (see Section 3.4.2. Minimal Requirements). We cannot guarantee the 
number of samples that will be provided because this is patient-dependent. You will receive 
information on the origin, quality, which standard(s) was/were used, and pre-analytical parameters in 
an anonymised manner. 
The samples represent the in-kind contribution from the Buyers. 
 
 

4. Submission and Evaluation Process 

 
Q: The assignment of tasks to Subcontractors has to be declared in advance to the Procurers 
and needs the approval of the Procurers - what does it exactly mean in the terms of 
submission? Do we need to ask before we send the official submission?   
A: Tenderers do not have to ask before the official submission of the Tender. Subcontractors have to 
be declared in the proposal because they also have to fulfil the compliance criteria - for instance 
ethical, data protection and security requirements. The Subcontractor can therefore not be changed 
without approval by the Procurers to ensure that any changes meet the compliance criteria. The work 
performed by the Subcontractor also has to be considered with regard to the requirement for 50% of 
the work to be performed in the EU Member States or H2020 associated countries. 
 
Q: Since there shall be no conflict of interest for evaluators, this means in practice that any 
partner of the project is to be excluded from becoming a customer before evaluation. When 
will the evaluation take place? It seems there are 3 stages of evaluations (for the 3 phases). 
That would mean that none of the partners can be customers of the company for several 
years. Right? 
A: There is no exclusion of customers. However, any prior service or R&D agreements or financial 
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agreements (e.g., consultant) must be disclosed by the evaluators. Financial relationships with a 
consortium member do not prevent submission of the proposal for evaluation. In this case the 
proposal will be evaluated by consortium members without potential conflicts of interest. 
 
Q: Will preference be given to existing partners of the Instand-NGS4P? 
A: No preference will be given to existing partners. The process will be transparent and followed by 
the European Commission. 
 
Q: Are the members of the selection committee known? I guess to have to avoid conflict of 
interest. Where can we find this? 
A: The selection committees are currently being finalised and will be announced on the website. Any 
Conflict of Interest must be declared by the Consortium and committee members. In case of a 
possible Conflict of Interest, this consortium member is excluded from evaluating proposals in this 
area. 
 
Q: Will any questions be answered before December timeframe, e.g. very important questions 
that hopefully are answered earlier than December? 
A: Questions will be answered continuously, and will be updated on the website (please allow a few 
days for processing). The deadline for questions is the 6th of December, and answers will be updated 
by the 10th of December 2021. 
 
Q: Is it necessary to provide not only the submission of deliverables, but also the reporting of 
expenditures? 
A: The Buyers need documentation to prove compliance with the costs eligibility conditions that at 
least 50% of the activities within a consortium must be performed in EU Member States or H2020 
associated countries. Information on how to provide this documentation and in what format will be 
provide on the Instand-NGS4P website. 
 
Q: Annex B, section 2: do you ask for the project plan, methodology, work organization for 
the 3 phases or just for phase 1? 
A: In the Tender, a detailed concept for Phase 1 as well as a short description of the activities 
planned for Phases 2 and 3 are requested. The funding for Phase 1 allows then the development of 
a detailed plan for Phase 2. 
 
Q: Annex B: Is the page limit of 12 pages for all lots combined or for each lot? 
A: The 12 page limit is for each Lot. 
 
Q: I have a questions regarding the comment on page 31 of Request for Tender document: 
D1.1 and 1.2 shall be in the format required by the EU for publication. The format will be 
available on the Instand-NGS4P website. I am trying to find this document on the website in 
order to view the format. 
A: You are referring to D1.1 Project abstract and list of pre-existing IP (for EU) and D1.2 End of 
Phase Report & non-confidential summary 
These deliverables will in part be published and are therefore required in a particular format by the 
EU. 2 templates are provided by the EU: Project abstract template and End of Phase Report 
template (we reserve the right to make minor modifications). The full templates for D1.1 and D1.2 will 
be made available on the website in due course (certainly before the start of Phase 1).  
 
Q: Are there any withdrawal terms and conditions from the contract?  
A: Yes - the cases and terms of termination are provided by article 26 of the Framework Agreement. 
You also do not have to apply for a next phase. 
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